IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1435

ANTHONY NEAL WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joseph T. Hobson Florida Bar No. 0507600 Assistant CCRC

Ruck P. DeMinico Florida Bar No. 382957 Assistant CCRC

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 12, 1990, a Pinellas County grand jury returned a threecount indictment against Appellant, Anthony Neal Washington (R. 1-8). The first count alleged the premeditated murder of Alice Berdat (R. 1). Count two charged that Appellant burglarized Berdat's dwelling and committed a battery upon her (R. 1). The third count alleged that Appellant committed a sexual battery upon Berdat using physical force likely to cause serious personal injury (R. 1).

On February 17, 1992, Appellant's trial counsel filed Defendant's 2nd Motion To Compel DNA Records (R. 949-951). A hearing was held on the motion February 25, 1992. Judge Downey entered his order on the motion February 28, 1992 (R. 863-864).

Appellant's jury trial took place on July 14-17, 1992, with the Honorable Susan F. Schaeffer presiding, replacing Judge Downey (R. 1979-2754). Prior to the commencement of the trial, Appellant's trial counsel filed a Motion in Limine attacking the DNA testimony, testing procedures and probability methods as not being generally accepted in the scientific community (PC-R. 1281-1283). The motion was ultimately denied, and the evidence admitted (R. 2005-2015, 2455-2523).

On July 16, 1992, Appellant's jury returned verdicts finding him guilty as charged on all counts of the indictment (R. 1505-1507, 2702).

The penalty phase was held on July 17, 1992 (R. 1670-1786, 2738-2754). After receiving additional evidence from the State and from the

defense, Appellant's jury recommended that Appellant be sentenced to life imprisonment (R. 1510, 2749-2750).

On August 6, 1992, Appellant filed a written memorandum addressing the sentence that should be imposed upon him (R. 1530-1536), followed by a supplemental memorandum on September 4, 1992 (R. 1553-1566). The State also filed an original and a supplemental sentencing memorandum, on September 1 and 4, 1992 (R. 1544-1552, 1567-1571).

At a hearing held on August 14, 1992, the court entertained arguments from counsel for the State and for the defense pertaining to what sentence Appellant should receive for the first degree murder (R. 1905-1916).

On September 4, 1992, the court denied Appellant's motion for new trial, which was filed on July 22, 1992, and imposed sentences (R. 1523-1525, 1918-1977). As to Appellant's murder conviction, the court overrode the jury's life recommendation and sentenced Appellant to die in the electric chair (R. 1572-1594, 1625, 1929-1977). The court found four aggravating circumstances (R. 1572-1580, 1931-1944): 1.) The capital felony was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment. 2.) Appellant was previously convicted of another felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. 3.) The capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in the crimes of burglary and sexual battery. 4.) The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. As for mitigating circumstances, the

court specifically rejected Appellant's age of 32 at the time of the offense as constituting a statutory mitigating circumstance, and did not find any other statutory mitigating factors to apply (R. 1580-1582, 1944-1947). The court found some nonstatutory mitigation in Appellant's positive character traits, but afforded it minimal weight (R. 1584-1587, 1957). The court also discussed, but rejected, several other proposed mitigating factors, including Appellant's potential for rehabilitation and/or ability to live within the prison system, drug abuse, emotional or psychological problems (including Appellant's childhood and family background), and that Appellant did not intend to kill the victim (R. 1582-1591, 1947-1969).

On direct appeal, Mr. Washington's conviction and sentence was affirmed. <u>Washington v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1995). Mr. Washington then filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on October 30, 1995. <u>Washington</u> <u>v. Florida</u>, 116 U.S. 387 (1995). On March 28, 1997, Mr. Washington filed his first Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend.

On March 1, 1999, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, Mr. Washington filed his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence (PC-R. 1-46). A hearing was held on August 12,1999, (PC-R. 614-688) in accordance with <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1992). On October 5,1999, the circuit court issued an order granting

an evidentiary hearing on claims I(c), I(d) and I(g), as they pertained to the penalty phase of the trial. The remainder of the claims were summarily denied. An evidentiary hearing was held on November 18-19, 1999 (PC-R 689-917). Judge Susan C. Schaeffer entered an order on June 5, 2000, denying all claims of Appellant's 3.850 motion (PC-R. 282-307). Timely notice of appeal was filed on July 5, 2000 (PC-R. 598-599). This appeal is properly before this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. TRIAL

In the penalty phase of Appellant's trial, the State put into evidence a judgment and sentence dated March 20, 1990, showing that Appellant entered a plea of nolo contendre to sexual battery and was sentenced to 15 years in prison (R. 1433-1437, 1691-1692), and a judgment and sentence dated July 20, 1988, showing that Appellant entered a plea of nolo contendere to burglary of an occupied dwelling with an assault or battery therein, and was sentenced to six years in prison (R. 1438-1443, 1691-1692). The state also called the victim of the prior sexual battery conviction to describe the details of the incident in the penalty phase of Mr. Washington's trial.

At penalty phase, the defense only called one lay witness, Appellant's mother, (R. 1723-1730) and one expert, Dr. Sidney Merin, who testified as to Appellant's rehabilitation potential (R. 1695-1722).

The mitigating circumstances upon which the jury was instructed were Appellant's age, and any other aspect of his character or record or background and any other circumstances of the offense (R. 2740-2741).

B. EVIDENTIARY HEARING

To prove the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, Appellant presented nine witnesses at the evidentiary hearing.

Appellant's mother, Willie Mae Washington, testified that she didn't know about the murder charge until an attorney called her to come up to Tampa for the trial (PC-R. 713). She stated that no investigator ever talked to her (PC-R. 713). She never spoke to the defense attorney about Appellant's background before she was put on the stand to testify in the penalty phase (PC-R. 714). The witness further explained that she did not testify about her son's drug use because she was not asked any questions by his attorney (PC-R. 716). She stated that the attorney never spoke to Appellant's childhood friends (PC-R. 715). The witness further testified that the family lived in Liberty City when Appellant was in elementary school, and moved to Carol City when he was about 14 years old and went to high school there (PC-R. 722). She also stated that Carol City borders Liberty City, and was a better place than Liberty City (PC-R. 722).

Ms. Washington testified that Appellant was drinking beer and

smoking cigarettes at age 14, and used pot as a teenager (PC-R. 702). His drug use worsened after high school and Ms. Washington believes that without drugs her son would have been a different person(PC-R. 711).

Holace Williams worked with Appellant in Appellant's father's construction company (PC-R. 728) and was his next door neighbor in Liberty City (PC-R. 727,728). Mr. Williams moved to Carol City along with Appellant's family (PC-R. 727). He stated that the families were close and that he knew Appellant from the time Appellant was a young child and had daily contact with Appellant when he was growing up (PC-R. 727,728). The witness testified that Appellant was a hard worker (PC-R. 738). Appellant started changing after he began to use drugs (PC-R. 729). Mr. Williams further stated that Carol City had a crime problem (PC-R. 729). Mr. Williams was still living in Carol City in 1992 and was available to testify in the trial, but was never contacted by Appellant's attorney (PC-R. 735).

Regina Batiste testified that she and Appellant met in 1973 and went to high school together (PC-R. 746). He was her first boyfriend(PC-R. 746). He "played plenty of ball and he worked as a teenager" and "was a good person" (PC-R. 746). She testified that Carol City was a good neighborhood, (PC-R. 746) but that there was a drug problem there and that it "got kind of rough" (PC-R. 747). As teenagers the witness and Appellant used marijuana and beer and about

1979 they started using crack, coke, THC and heroin (PC-R. 747). The witness stated that Appellant's drug use started out as social use and then got bad (PC-R. 750). Appellant's drug use got so bad that one night in 1987 Appellant came up to the witness and robbed her of a leather jacket (PC-R. 755,764). Ms. Batiste stated that she was never contacted about the case and would have been willing to testify at the trial (PC-R. 759). She further stated that the first she heard of the case was between 1993 and 1995 (PC-R. 758).

Maurice Houston testified that he is six years younger than Appellant and was a neighbor when he and Appellant were growing up in Carol City (PC-R. 767). He testified that Appellant's reputation was "all right", that he was a fighter, but wouldn't start trouble (PC-R. 772). Further, Mr. Washington kept young people straight, was looked up to and would not give them drugs (PC-R. 772-773). The witness was never contacted by the Appellant's attorney in 1992 and was available and would have testified (PC-R. 773).

Eric Bryant, a friend of Appellant's brother Dexter Washington, testified that Appellant played sandlot football during high school (PC-R. 786). Mr. Bryant described Carol City as a rough community with criminal elements and not a suburb like neighborhood (PC-R. 776). He further stated that in Carol City there were gangs and there was a section called Little Saigon because of the violence and shootings (PC-R. 785,787). Mr. Bryant knew Appellant to do drugs, including

marijuana, cocaine, heroin, valium, quaaludes and tuinals (PC-R. 789). He related a story of Appellant attempting to sell his mother's jewelry to obtain money for drugs and explained that Appellant was on crack cocaine, and that "crack will do that to people" (PC-R. 783). He stated that he was available to testify in 1992 but was never contacted by Appellant's attorney(PC-R. 783).

Dexter Washington, Appellant's brother, testified that Appellant contacted him while awaiting trial for the instant murder to bring him either drugs or money to buy drugs at the Pinellas County jail where he was being held (PC-R. 456,464,467-468). He testified that Appellant told him that drugs were available in the jail, but that he had no money to purchase them (PC-R 456-457,464).

Daniel Sprehe, M.D., a physician specializing in psychiatry, (PC-R. 850) was called to testify. Dr. Sprehe testified that he met with and examined Appellant a week before the evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 852). He stated that the main focus of his evaluation was to determine whether Appellant met the criteria of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the APA (DSM-IV), the standardized and agreed upon criteria for diagnosing substance dependence and/or abuse (PC-R. 854). Dr. Sprehe opined that Appellant met the criteria for substance dependency disorder and a lesser pattern of substance abuse disorder based upon the history Appellant provided (PC-R. 854,856).

Dr. Sprehe testified that Appellant began using marijuana in

junior high school and crack cocaine by age twenty-two (PC-R. 852). He stated that crack cocaine was Appellant's drug of choice (PC-R. 853). Dr. Sprehe further stated that Appellant had a \$40-\$500 per week habit (PC-R. 852). To support his habit, Dr. Sprehe testified that "he had to steal to get drug money.... And **sometimes** he would sell drugs, though, and make **as much as** three thousand a week on drug sales" (emphasis added) (PC-R. 852,853). Dr. Sprehe stated that all of Appellant's criminal record was directly related to his need to get money immediately for drugs because of his habit (PC-R. 853).

Dr. Sprehe testified that the long term effect of cocaine use is increased impulsivity, because the main focus is getting more of the drug (PC-R. 853). He further stated that the impulsivity from long term use occurs even if a person is not using the drug at the time of the crime (854). This long term effect would not be present if a person stayed off the drug for a year or two, however Dr. Sprehe stated that this would not apply to Appellant because Appellant said he was using drugs while in the work release center (PC-R. 855).

Dr. Sprehe noted that Dr. Merin did not develop substance abuse history (PC-R. 857). Although the State recited numerous tests which Dr. Merin had given Appellant, (PC-R. 857,858) Dr. Sprehe stated that none of the tests given to Appellant by Dr. Merin's assistant at the time of the original trial bring out whether a person is a substance abuser because they do not bring out the historical information needed

to meet the criteria (PC-R. 858,859).

The State questioned Dr. Sprehe about Dr. Merin's evaluation process:

- Q. Right. The battery of tests was his third step in his evaluation process. The first step being the taking of the history, the second step being his own observations of the individual while he was doing the taking of the history?
- A. Yes. But let me caution you. Mr. Washington tells me that Dr. Merin was with him a very short time and then introduced his assistant who did all the history-taking and observing of him during this. And so Dr. Merin presented his testimony based on the summary of the assistant's work.

(PC-R. 860).

Dr. Sprehe disagreed with Dr. Merin's finding that Appellant had no emotional disorders, stating that substance abuse dependency is an emotional disorder (PC-R. 860). He went on to state that Appellant's condition could have been affecting his impulsivity and his desire to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law at the time of the crime (PC-R. 864).

Appellant's lead trial attorney, Franklyn Louderback, testified that prior to Mr. Washington's trial he had been involved in at least a dozen murder trials that involved a penalty phase (PC-R. 793). He was sure that he had inquired about friends, relatives and neighbors located in the Miami area that knew him and knew of his background (PC-R. 794). He could not recall how many people were in the group and his independent recollection was that Appellant had at least indicated his mother (PC-R. 794). Mr. Louderback had no recollection as to how many defense witnesses from the Miami area he might have talked to (PC-R. 801), but any names Appellant had given them they would have tried to locate or speak to (PC-R. 807). The strategy at penalty phase was to present as much mitigation as they possibly could (PC-R. 810) and there was no tactical decision for not putting anyone else on to testify in penalty phase other than Appellant's mother and Dr. Merin (PC-R. 800-801).

Louderback could not recall if the subject of drug use ever came up in his discussions with Appellant (PC-R. 794). Likewise, he could not recall if he had asked Appellant's mother about his drug usage (PC-R. 798-799), and could not recall if he had spoken to her prior to her testifying (PC-R. 799,813), although he knew that either he or cocounsel spoke to her before she testified (PC-R. 798-799). When asked by the assistant state attorney if he had known about a girlfriend who would have testified about Appellant's drug use during high school, but that Appellant had robbed her later in life, would he have put that person on to testify, Mr. Louderback replied that he would never have put somebody like that on as a witness (PC-R. 812).

Tom McCoun, co-defense/penalty phase counsel, was called to testify. Mr. McCoun testified that he had some recollection of the case but that "it's not great" (PC-R. 824), and that he did not

remember any specific conversations with Appellant (PC-R. 825). He stated that the case was possibly initially with the public defender and that the Public Defender's office may have done some initial mitigation work-up as there were letters in his files going to schools and prisons (PC-R. 825). As to his own drug investigation he stated that he "would have done the standard work-up" (PC-R. 824). In referring to his notes, Mr. McCoun testified that in an interview with Appellant in May of 1992 there was mention of Appellant being involved with marijuana, quaaludes and cocaine, (PC-R. 827,842) and that the drug use led to burglaries and robbery (PC-R. 843). He further stated that the notes contained the names of friends and relatives that might be helpful in developing Appellant's drug use, however he did not have an investigator contact the witnesses because his practice was to go down and find and develop witnesses himself (PC-R. 827). In this case, however, he did not go down to Miami to find, develop or speak to witnesses (PC-R. 828). Mr. McCoun stated that if he had a phone number on the witnesses he would have tried calling them, however he had no recollection of whether he did or not (PC-R. 832). He further stated that failing to call witnesses who could testify about Appellant's childhood was not a tactical decision (PC-R. 829). He testified that Appellant's drug use was a significant fact (PC-R. 843), but he didn't think it was mitigating in this case because Appellant denied committing the crime (PC-R. 839):

- Q. Okay. Well, in Dr. Merin's testimony, after having done his battery of tests and his examination of the defendant, do you think it would have been very beneficial to present this particular jury with evidence of the fact that the defendant may have done drugs while he was in high school?
- Q. You know, we just looking back at my notes, for instance, of the penalty phase, it seems to me that I may have made some passing mention of it, but it was just not a focus of what I was attempting to do.

I think there are some cases when use of drugs can be a mitigating factor. And I have to say honestly that I don't think that it was a mitigation factor in the circumstance of this case, because we had a defendant who insisted and probably still insists that he didn't commit the offense.

So I don't know that it lends - would have made a difference to the jury, because they recommended life anyway.

(PC-R. 839).

Mr. McCoun testified that in penalty phase he was trying to develop that the defendant had a useful existence and family support, and could live in a confined setting and had potential for rehabilitation (PC-R. 837). His focus was to convince the jury that Appellant did not intend to kill the victim, but to render her unconscious as he had to the victim of the previous rape (PC-R. 837,838).

The state presented no witnesses during the evidentiary hearing, and Judge Schaeffer denied all claims from the Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 Motion to Vacate in her June 5, 2000 Order (PC-R. 282-307).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Trial counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase of his jury trial for failing to investigate and present mitigating evidence.

2. Trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt phase of his jury trial for failing to request a *Frye* hearing on the issue of DNA evidence.

3. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Washington's claim that Mr. Washington's sentence of death under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution is invalid because the sentencing court failed to give great weight to the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment.

4. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Washington's claim that Mr. Washington's sentence of death under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution is invalid because the jury instructions in both the guilt/innocence and penalty phase of the trial were constitutionally invalid.

5. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Washington's claim that Mr. Washington's sentence rests upon an unconstitutionally automatic aggravating circumstance, in violation of <u>Stringer v. Black</u>, <u>Maynard v. Cartwright</u>, <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, and the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

6. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Washington's claim that Mr. Washington's trial court proceedings were fraught with procedural and substantive errors, which cannot be harmless when viewed as a whole since the combination of errors deprived him of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

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