IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY NEAL WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

vs. 1435 CASE NO. SC00-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 801-0600 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Agent Adams additionally testified that the estimate now of selecting a black individual at random - having a DNA profile like that of Washington - using the current black population database - would be approximately 1 in 400,000 (DAR 2522).

Trial counsel was not deficient here because he was able to elicit the limitations on DNA technology and had the state's expert witness provide the very conservative estimate, i.e. the one most beneficial to his client of 1 in 195,000 (the probability of selecting an unrelated individual at random from the black population having a DNA profile matching the appellant's).

Washington has not suggested anything in this pleading or to the lower court in his Rule 3.850 motion asserting or contesting the testimony as erroneous (and would explain attorney McCoun's concession to Judge Schaeffer during jury selection that regarding his DNA consultant "[a]s of yesterday

afternoon we don't intend to call him. I met with him, but we do not intend to call him" (DAR 2176)). A defense expert would not be needed to corroborate Adams' testimony.

(2) <u>Appellant failed to satisfy the prejudice prong of</u> <u>Strickland</u>.

Similarly, the prejudice prong remains unsatisfied. Appellant has not demonstrated any error in the testimony adduced at the trial by FBI special agent Adams. He has not demonstrated with any specificity that the testimony would be different or even that he would have prevailed had trial counsel requested the hearing he now suggests for the first time on this appeal.¹¹ The DNA evidence would not be suppressed and the remaining evidence (similar hairs, appellant's proximity to the murder scene, his possession of and selling the victim's watch a day after the homicide) is still unchallenged and unchallengeable.

Appellant's sole argument on the prejudice element is a reference to <u>Thorp v State</u>, 777 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 2001) - decided some nine years after the trial - a case in which this court held that the trial court's failure to exclude blood samples and resulting DNA because of several critical and substantial

¹¹ Obviously the test is not whether there is a likelihood of a different outcome in a "mini-proceeding" (i.e. motion to suppress or motion in limine) but rather the ultimate proceeding, that which determined guilt or the sentence imposed. <u>State v. Stirrup</u>, 469 So. 2d 845, 848 (Fla. 1985), <u>rev. denied</u>, 480 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 1985).

misstatements set out in an affidavit for search warrant, the falsity of which were known to the police officer affiant and with the redacted facts omitted, the remaining facts failed to establish probable cause constituted reversible error. The court found the error could not be deemed harmless since the expert testimony and prosecutorial argument on the conclusive nature of the evidence (the probability of a match would be about one in 3.6 billion) and the absence of any other physical evidence placing Thorp at the scene of the crime required reversal and a new trial. <u>Thorp</u> does not require reversal here. The DNA evidence is not inadmissible as a result of an illegal search.

Thus, even if an argument could be constructed now that trial counsel should have done something more, there is no reasonable probability that for counsel's unprofessional errors the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 698 (1984); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, _____ So. 2d ____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (Fla. 2001) (reciting necessity of defendant to state facts regarding both deficiency and prejudice requirements).¹²

¹² In <u>Brim v. State</u>, 695 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1997) this Court acknowledged that the NRC had recently issued its updated report. <u>Id.</u> at 270. The Court acknowledged that while there

conclusion, trial counsel McCoun satisfied the In requirements of <u>Strickland</u> to act as an advocate for Washington. He did not fail to investigate; rather, he retained the services of a confidential DNA expert Dr. Litman, he deposed FBI expert Dwight Adams and repeatedly sought to depose and examine technician Baumstark, and urged the trial court to preclude testimony. Although the trial court ruled adversely to his motion to compel - a ruling approved by this Court on direct appeal - that does not render his performance inadequate. Counsel was not required to do more, especially since prevailing appellate decisions did not command it and Mr. McCoun was able to elicit the favorable information learned to the jury in his cross-examination (the limitations of DNA and lack of certainty in comparison to fingerprints, the fact that others are in disagreement, and that use of different or changing databases can yield other or less conservative figures). Appellant has not shown now - years later - that his conduct was unreasonable the likelihood of a different result had he acted or

had been criticism over the ceiling principles and that the 1996 report now found them to be unnecessary, this fact did not mean they were unreliable, "by analogy, the fact that we now have calculators does not make long-hand arithmetic unreliable. Ιf calculators only make such long-hand anything, work unnecessary." Id. at 273. The Court added, "Indeed, there appears to be a high probability that a Frye test will be satisfied in light of the dissipation of the debate over population substructures. <u>Id.</u> at 275. Since the debate over population substructures has dissipated, appellant has failed to establish that counsel's actions at trial were deficient or that the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u> can be satisfied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING RELIEF ON APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE SENTENCING COURT FAILED TO GIVE GREAT WEIGHT TO THE JURY'S LIFE RECOMMENDATION.

The lower court correctly and summarily denied relief on this point (in Claim II, below at R II, 291), pointing out that the sentencing order reflected that the court was required to give great weight to the jury's recommendation under <u>Tedder v.</u> <u>State</u>, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975), that the court had applied the proper standard and that the Florida Supreme Court had affirmed the judgment and sentence in <u>Washington v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1995). Judge Schaeffer was correct in determining that "This claim is not appropriate, therefore, and is barred from post-conviction relief" (R II, 291).

Appellee notes that at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, counsel for appellant indicated he wasn't going to comment too much and sought to preserve the issue "for federal appeals" (R IV, 661).

This Court previously addressed the correctness of the trial court's <u>Tedder</u> analysis:

[10][11][12] We also find no merit in Washington's claim that the trial court improperly imposed the death sentence over the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment. In *Tedder v. State*, 322 So.2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975), we held that "[i]n order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of

life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ." have We consistently interpreted Tedder as meaning that an override is improper if there exists a reasonable jury's recommendation of basis for а life imprisonment. Freeman v. State, 547 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1989); Hall v. State, 541 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1989); Ferry v. State, 507 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1987). We have affirmed life overrides in cases similar to the instant one.

(653 So. 2d at 366)

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN BOTH THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES OF THE TRIAL WERE CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID.

The lower court properly and summarily denied relief at

Claim III, below, R II, 291:

"This claim is broken into three sub-parts, but all parts deal with jury instructions given during the trial. Counsel conceded at the *Huff* hearing that these were matters to be raised on appeal (which some were) and were not proper for post-conviction relief. (Exhibit B, pp. 50-53). This claim is summarily denied. Additionally, the jury returned a life recommendation, so these claims, as to penalty phase instructions, are moot."

See also <u>Huff</u> hearing transcript at R IV, 664-666.

Undaunted, appellant complains on this appeal (A) that the jury instructions on the HAC factor were not given limiting construction and counsel failed properly to object, (B) that the instruction on the committed during the course of a robbery aggravator is unconstitutional on its face and as applied and (C) the instructions to the jury diluted their sense of responsibility in determining the proper sentence. Appellant apparently does not challenge any guilt phase instructions.

As to (A), the challenge to the vagueness of the HAC instruction, this Court considered and rejected the claim on Washington's direct appeal and it is inappropriate to use the Rule 3.850 vehicle to revisit that issue. On appeal, this Court ruled:

[9] Washington's first penalty-phase issue asserts that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance is vague and arbitrarily and capriciously applied. We find this argument to be without merit. See Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976).

(653 So. 2d at 366)

Appellee also asserts that trial counsel apparently declined the trial court's invitation to submit an appropriate limiting instruction (Direct Appeal Record, R 2721-35). Washington may not obtain relief on the basis that counsel failed to object because this Court did not rule the claim to be barred but rather "without merit". To the extent that Washington may be urging a different argument in support of the same issue, counsel is not ineffective simply because collateral counsel may offer something different. Finally, as the lower court noted here, any such error would be harmless since the jury returned a life recommendation.

As to (B), the challenge now made to the during the course of a robbery aggravator, the claim is barred for the failure to object at trial and raise on appeal. <u>Remeta v. Dugger</u>, 622 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (Fla. 2001); <u>Atwater v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S395 (Fla. 2001). Furthermore, the instruction is not unconstitutionally vague and appellant cites no case law holding that it is. Even if there were an infirmity in the instruction, the jury's recommendation of life would render it moot.

As to (C) - the jury's sense of responsibility being diluted - the claim is barred for the failure to object and assert on appeal. The claim is meritless. See <u>Rose v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 291, 297 (Fla. 1993); <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 612 So. 2d 1366, 1369 (Fla. 1992). Finally, the jury obviously did not regard their role as diminished in light of their life recommendation.¹³

¹³Appellant in his brief at page 65 refers to a number of record cites in which he claims the court improperly instructed the jury that its role was advisory (R. 249, 250, 266, 267, 269, 270, 268, 556, 557, 567, 576, 583, 590, 597, 606, 618, 626, 631, 642, 643, 649, 655, 659, 683). On appellee's review of the direct appeal transcript, the trial court's guilt phase instruction to the jury occurred at TR. 668-695 or R. 2661-2688 and the penalty phase instruction is at TR. 745-752 or R. 2738-2745. Judge Schaeffer told the jury that the "advisory sentence" was "entitled by law and will be given great weight in determining what sentence will be imposed." (TR. 745, R. 2738). Appellee sees no instruction diluting the jury's sense of responsibility.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS SENTENCE RESTS ON AN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Judge Schaeffer summarily denied relief on this point below

at Claim V, Vol II, R. 292:

MR. WASHINGTON'S SENTENCE RESTS UPON AN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE IN VIOLATION OF STRINGER V. BLACK, MAYNARD V. CARTWRIGHT, HITCHCOCK V. DUGGER, AND THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

This is summarily denied. It was an issue available for appeal, and was not the sole aggravating factor in this case, but merely one of four aggravating factors. Additionally, the jury recommended a life sentence, rendering this moot. And counsel conceded at the *Huff* Hearing that it was a "preservation issue." (Exhibit B, pp. 55-56).

Appellee reiterates that this claim was an issue for direct appeal (if properly preserved by contemporaneous objection at the time of trial) and thus is not cognizable for postconviction challenge and is now barred. <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, ______ So. 2d _____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (Fla. 2001); <u>Atwater v.</u> <u>State</u>, _____ So. 2d _____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S395 (Fla. 2001). Additionally this Court has repeatedly rejected the argument. See <u>Jones v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1994); <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 706 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 1998)(J. Wells, concurring); <u>Mills v.</u> <u>State</u>, _____ So. 2d ____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S275 (Fla. 2001). As the court's order noted, appellant at the <u>Huff</u> hearing did not seek an evidentiary hearing but rather only sought to preserve it for later review (R IV, 668-669).

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS WERE FRAUGHT WITH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERROR.

Appellant's failure to identify any such error in his brief is fatal to his claim that the trial court erroneously denied relief. Since any individual alleged errors are without merit, any cumulative error contention must fail. See <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n. 5 (Fla. 1999); <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1068-69 (Fla. 2000); <u>Mann v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1158, 1164 (Fla. 2000); <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, <u>___</u> So. 2d ___, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (Fla. 2001); <u>Atwater v. State</u>, <u>___</u> So. 2d ___, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S395 (Fla. 2001). The lower court properly disposed of this issue below in Claim VI, at R II, 292):

"This claim is denied. Counsel, at the Huff Hearing said this was the "catch all" and "totality" argument. (Exhibit B, pp. 56-57). As to any penalty phase errors, they are moot, the jury having returned a life recommendation. As to the trial errors made, singularly and collectively, must be raised on appeal, not in a post-conviction motion. As to collective ineffective claims of counsel involving the guilt phase of the trial, this has already been addressed in this order. As to collective ineffective claims of counsel at the penalty phase, they are moot as to errors before the jury since the jury recommended a

life sentence. As to collective errors that might have affected the court's sentence, such errors will be addressed singularly and collectively later in this Order."¹⁴

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

Washington contends that the lower court erred in denying him an evidentiary hearing. He urges that the state's law fails to meet rudimentary guarantees, that execution by electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, that the statute fails to provide any standard of proof that aggravating factors outweigh mitigating factors, that the sentencing procedure does not have independent reweighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, that aggravating circumstances have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner, that the jury receives unconstitutionally vague instructions, and that there is a presumption of death when a single aggravating factor is found.

Appellant presented this claim in Claim VII, below (R I, 42-44). All of these challenges to the Florida capital sentencing statute are matters to be urged on direct appeal, and are

 $^{^{14}\}mathrm{As}$ Judge Schaeffer noted in her order, Washington's counsel at the <u>Huff</u> hearing indicated relief was not appropriate at this time (R IV, 669-670).

therefore not cognizable on a post-conviction challenge (since Rule 3.850 does not constitute a second appeal). This claim is procedurally barred now. See <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (Fla. 2001); <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 n 1 & 2 (Fla. 1998); <u>Marek v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 160, 162 (Fla. 1993).

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